IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA	
	CASE NO. 96,854
	LARRY W. MALLARD,
Petitioner,	2.1,
v.	
CHARLENE G. MALLAI	RD,
Respondent.	
ON APPEAL FROM THE FOR THE SECOND DIS	E DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FRICT OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER LARRY W. MALLARD

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP Steven L. Brannock Robert Shapiro J. Fraser Himes P.O. Box 1288 Tampa, FL 33601-1288

### **CERTIFICATE OF TYPE, SIZE AND STYLE**

Counsel for Petitioner, Larry W. Mallard, certifies that this Initial Brief on the Merits is typed in 14 point (proportionately spaced) Times New Roman.

###

INTRODUCTION
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 8
ARGUMENT 9
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

#### TABLE OF CITATIONS

Barner v. Barner, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1589(Fla. 4th DCA July 1, 1998) 14, 17		
Boyett v. Boyett, 703 So. 2d 451 (Fla. 1997)		
Brooks v. Brooks, 957 S.W.2d 783 (Mo. App. 1997)		
Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d at 1201-1202		
Cummings v. Cummings, 330 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 1976)		
Dehm v. Dehm, 545 P.2d 525 (Utah 1976)		
Diffenderfer v. Diffenderfer, 491 So. 2d 265 (Fla. 1986)		
Echols v. Elswick, 638 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)		
Edwards v. Sanders, 622 So. 2d 587 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993)		
Gordon v. Gordon, 335 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976), cert. denied, 344 So. 2d 324 (1977) 15		
Hamilton v. Hamilton, 552 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989)		
Hughes v. Hughes, 438 So. 2d 146 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983)		
<i>Irwin v. Irwin</i> , 539 So. 2d 1177 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989)		
Joseph v. Joseph, 681 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)		
Kilgannon v. Champiny,		

684 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996)
<i>Kinzler v. Kinzler</i> , 497 So. 2d 909 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986)
<i>Messina v. Messina</i> , 676 So. 2d 483 9 Fla. 1st DCA 1996
Nelson v. Nelson, 651 So. 2d 1252 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995)
Penkoski v. Patterson,         440 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983)       23
Rosen v. Rosen, 696 So. 2d 697 (Fla. 1997)
Severs v. Severs, 426 So. 2d 992 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983)
Stith v. Stith, 384 So. 2d 317 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980)
<i>Traylor v. Traylor</i> , 214 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1st DCA 1968)
Walter v. Walter, 464 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 1985)
Welsh v. Welsh, 160 Fla. 380, 35 So. 2d 6 (1948)
Wood v. Wood, 528 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988)
OTHER AUTHORITY
Abrams, <i>Florida Family Law</i> § 31.03[2]
Section 61 075(5)(a) Fla Stat 13

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This case presents a single legal issue: whether the trial court erred in requiring the husband to pay permanent alimony substantially in excess of the wife's stipulated needs. Alimony based on the wife's stipulated needs was calculated at \$4,250 per month. This amount (reached by stipulation) was already nearly twenty per cent in excess of the Wife's historical standard of living. Yet, the trial court required the husband to pay an additional \$3,125 in monthly "savings alimony" based on the amount the parties tried to set aside for retirement during the last several years of their marriage. The award of this extra alimony was premised on speculation concerning the wife's future, as opposed to stipulated existing needs. The Second District affirmed the award in a split decision but certified the following question to this Court:

WHEN THE PARTIES TO A DISSOLUTION OF MARRIAGE HAVE HISTORICALLY DEMONSTRATED THE REGULAR AND CONSISTENT PATTERN TO SAVE MONEY OVER AN EXTENDED PORTION OF THEIR LONG-TERM MARRIAGE, MAY A TRIAL COURT CONSIDER THIS FACTOR IN AWARDING PERMANENT ALIMONY THAT EXCEEDS THE RECIPIENT SPOUSE'S CURRENT NEEDS AND NECESSITIES?

This Court should answer the certified question in the negative. The award of "savings alimony" to the wife constitutes a drastic departure from well-settled principles governing the award of permanent periodic alimony. Alimony must be based on *current* needs, not speculation as to what one spouse may need tomorrow, next year, or at retirement. Future contingencies are why modification proceedings are available. Besides being speculative, the trial court's award of extra alimony has granted the wife a continuing interest in the husband's future income directly contrary

to Florida Statutes defining marital property and the teachings of this Court. In effect, the Wife received the benefit of the family's savings twice, first by way of her equitable distribution and then in the calculation of alimony.

To erroneously affirm the decision in this case would be to significantly change Florida dissolution law. The recognition of "savings alimony" will open a floodgate of new litigation concerning the calculation of alimony. What is now a relatively simple calculation based on current expenses will become a complicated battle of experts concerning the relationship between past savings (or other forms of wealth accumulation or debt reduction) and speculative future needs. This Court should decline the lower court's invitation to reinvent alimony law and reverse.

In this brief, Appellant Larry W. Mallard refers to himself as the "husband," his capacity in the former marriage. The husband refers to Appellee, Charlene G. Mallard, as the "wife." The husband refers to the record on appeal as ("R.") and the transcript of the final hearing below as ("T.").

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal arises out of the dissolution of Larry and Charlene Mallard's 27-year marriage. Because virtually all of this case was resolved by stipulation, the facts need be only briefly stated.

The husband has had a successful 27-year career at NationsBank. Joining the bank upon his graduation from college, the husband has risen to the position of President of the North Florida region of the bank (T. 36-37, 69-70). The husband's career involved several moves within North Carolina and a move to Houston before the couple moved to Tampa (T. 37, 70-77).

The parties had a traditional marriage. Early in the marriage, the wife worked as a full-time public school teacher until the birth of the second of the couple's two children. The wife then became the children's primary caregiver and worked part-time as a teacher, a position that she continues to hold today. The husband continued to develop his career at NationsBank (T. 37, 70-77).

During the marriage, the parties lived very comfortably, but not extravagantly. The family built increasingly luxurious houses in North Carolina, Houston, and Tampa. The family frequently went out to dinner, took vacations, and belonged to country clubs in Houston and Tampa (T. 37-39, 81-82, 101, 103).

At the same time, the parties agreed to avoid extravagant expenditures and to save money with a goal of early retirement. During the last six years of their marriage, they set a target of saving 25% of their income (but did not realize this goal until the last few years of the marriage) (T. 38, 53, 99-100).

Unfortunately, the parties' 25-year happy marriage deteriorated after they

moved to Tampa. The wife, apparently unhappy with the move to Florida, became angry and depressed (T. 36, 44-45). The husband sought marriage counseling, which was unsuccessful, and he filed for dissolution in 1997 (T. 44-45).

#### The Financial Settlement

Prior to the final hearing, the parties were able to resolve nearly all financial issues by stipulation (T. 48; R. 177). The husband agreed to an equitable distribution that resulted in a 50/50 split of the parties' assets and an identical resulting net worth for the husband and the wife. They split their securities accounts equally with each receiving over \$300,000 in securities. The wife also received over \$270,000 of the couple's retirement accounts. The wife was awarded the four-bedroom, 3800-square-foot marital home valued at \$542,300 which she received free and clear of any liabilities (R. 177-78).

The parties also largely agreed on the husband's future financial obligations. The husband agreed to pay the wife a non-taxable lump-sum payment of \$18,125 in retroactive support (R. 178). The husband agreed to pay all of their minor child's private school tuition, as well as the child's automobile insurance, health insurance and reasonable and necessary non-covered medical bills (T. 33-36, 90; R. 178). Finally, the husband agreed to pay all of the wife's attorneys' fees and costs in the trial court so that there was no diminution of her share of the equitable distribution (R. 178-79).

Most importantly for the purposes of this appeal, prior to the final hearing, the wife

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> By contrast, the Husband's share of the equitable distribution was diminished by his agreement to pay fees.

stipulated that her adjusted, post-divorce need based on her projected "adjusted" standard of living was \$5,910 per month (T. 92-93; R. 177). This stipulated need included a nearly twenty percent upward adjustment from the wife's historical standard of living which was stipulated to be \$5,060 per month. The court found that \$4,250 was the amount of permanent periodic alimony required to meet the wife's adjusted needs, taking into consideration her salary and stipulated projected income (R. 183).<sup>2</sup> The stipulation ensured that the Wife would not have to invade the principal of her equitable distribution to meet her needs and that no income was imputed to her from her share of the retirement account (leaving the account free to compound its growth).

The husband also agreed to pay child support of \$1,875 per month based on a guideline calculation that assumed that the wife would receive \$4,250 per month in alimony while the minor child lived at home (R. 178).

#### The Trial Judge Awards "Savings Alimony"

Instead of awarding the wife \$4,250 — the amount the wife agreed was necessary to meet her stipulated adjusted, post-divorce needs, the trial court ruled that the husband must pay the wife \$4,250 plus an additional \$3,125 every month which represented one half of the couple's savings goal during their marriage. The court applied the couple's 25 per cent savings goal to the husband's \$300,000 base salary to

There was one additional issue below which the husband did not raise on appeal. The parties disputed whether income should be imputed to the wife for the purposes of calculating alimony based on her decision to live in the 3,800 square foot marital home after the children were gone. The Husband suggested at trial that the Wife could have moved into an equally luxurious, but smaller, residence and invested the difference. The parties stipulated to two different levels of alimony depending upon how the trial judge resolved the issue. The trial judge chose not to impute income to the wife and settled on the more generous alimony award, allowing her to remain in the \$542,000, five bedroom residence.

come up with an anticipated savings amount of \$75,000 per year. The court then awarded half of this amount to the wife resulting in the additional \$3,125 monthly alimony payment (for a total alimony award of \$7,375 per month) (R. 183). The trial court did not recalculate the husband's child support obligations in light of the substantial increase in the wife's alimony payments. *Compare* R. 178 *with* R. 183.

Believing the trial court's award of savings alimony to be in error, the husband appealed. The Second District agreed that Florida law does not recognize "savings alimony" but, in a split decision, affirmed the award holding that the court could consider a "savings" component in assessing the wife's needs. The court then certified the following question to this Court:

WHEN THE PARTIES TO A DISSOLUTION OF MARRIAGE HAVE HISTORICALLY DEMONSTRATED THE REGULAR AND CONSISTENT PATTERN TO SAVE MONEY FOR AN EXTENDED PORTION OF THEIR LONG-TERM MARRIAGE, MAY A TRIAL COURT CONSIDER THIS FACTOR IN AWARDING PERMANENT ALIMONY THAT EXCEEDS THE RECIPIENT SPOUSE'S CURRENT NEEDS AND NECESSITIES?

#### **Standard of Review**

Because the parties stipulated to the amount of the wife's adjusted, post-divorce living expenses, this appeal concerns only the legal issue of whether future savings alimony is a permissible component of permanent periodic alimony. This Court reviews this issue *de novo*. *Walter v. Walter*, 464 So. 2d 538, 539 (Fla. 1985).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The award of savings alimony violates several important principles of Florida alimony law. First, the court erroneously awarded the wife \$3,125 per month in excess of her stipulated projected needs. In effect, the award gives the wife a substantial interest in the husband's future income, which is directly contrary to the statutory definitions of marital and non-marital property. The court's decision also conflicts with the many cases expressly holding that no spouse has an interest in the future income or good fortune of the other spouse after divorce. Each spouse has the right to an equitable division of marital property and to have his or her financial needs met, but beyond that, neither spouse has the right to share in the fruits of the other spouse's labors after dissolution.

Finally, the trial court's ruling overlooks that modification is always available to cover unforeseen future contingencies. Here, the trial court engaged in unbridled speculation that the wife may need a "rainy day" fund for later. The court's order ignores the very substantial equitable distribution already made to the wife and the Florida cases that prohibit the award of alimony based on speculation concerning future needs.

The Court's award of savings alimony should be reversed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF SAVINGS ALIMONY TO THE WIFE IS CONTRARY TO WELL-SETTLED PRINCIPLES GOVERNING THE AWARD OF PERMANENT PERIODIC ALIMONY

The trial court's award of "savings alimony" over and above the wife's stipulated adjusted need is contrary to bedrock principles which govern the award of permanent alimony in Florida. As we show below, the purpose of alimony is to provide for the "current necessary support" of the receiving spouse. A "rainy day" fund for retirement or other unforeseen contingencies is not a component of "current necessary support." Moreover, a former spouse has no vested interest in the good fortune or future income of the other former spouse. Finally, an award of alimony cannot be based on speculation concerning future needs. The decision below should be reversed.

#### A. The Award of Permanent Periodic Alimony Must Be Based Upon the Current Needs and Necessities of the Recipient Spouse.

The purpose of permanent periodic alimony is well-settled in Florida law. In *Welsh v. Welsh*, 160 Fla. 380, 35 So. 2d 6, 9 (1948), this Court emphasized that the basis for the allowance of permanent alimony is the "*necessities* of the wife and the financial ability of the husband to *supply the necessity*." (emphasis added).

This principle has been reiterated time and again. For example, in the landmark *Canakaris* decision, this Court explained this principle as follows:

Permanent periodic alimony is used to provide the *needs* and *necessities* of life to a former spouse as they have been established by the marriage of the parties. The *two* primary elements to be considered when determining permanent periodic alimony are the *needs* of one spouse for the funds and the *ability* of the other spouse to provide the

necessary funds.

Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d at 1201-1202 (Fla. 1980) (emphasis added).

Most recently, in *Rosen v. Rosen*, 696 So. 2d 697, 703 (Fla. 1997), this Court reemphasized the purpose of permanent periodic alimony when it succinctly stated that "the point of our findings in *Canakaris* was that an award of alimony is to provide the *current necessary support*." (emphasis added).

There can be no argument about the wife's current need here. The parties stipulated that the wife's adjusted, post-divorce needs equal \$5,910 per month, which was already a nearly twenty percent increase over her historical standard of living. There is no dispute that \$4,250 in alimony adequately covers her standard of living in light of her other stipulated income. The husband has no dispute with this amount. The Court's award of an additional \$3,125 in "savings" alimony above and beyond her needs is without support.

The court below correctly noted that there is no such thing as "savings alimony" under Florida law but then proceeded to award it anyway. The majority justified its decision by suggesting that the wife should not be "penalized" by the family's choice to be fiscally prudent. In essence, the majority suggested that the wife should receive alimony in excess of her needs because her standard of living during the marriage was artificially low. This argument is incorrect on a number of levels. To begin with, the wife is in no position to complain about the calculation of her reasonable needs. She stipulated to her reasonable projected needs below. This stipulation already included a nearly twenty percent adjustment upward from her historical standard of living. Secondly, as the wife has conceded, alimony must be based on the standard of living

as established by the parties during the marriage. The wife has cited no authority suggesting that alimony should be set based on what she believes in hindsight her standard of living should have been. If the wife were correct, calculating the needy spouse's reasonable need would be changed from a relatively straightforward objective analysis of the parties' financial history to a subjective determination of what the parties should have been spending. No doubt many spouses could argue that they could have spent more.

But most importantly, the wife's argument overlooks the fact that she benefited very substantially from the parties' prudence. As her brief below candidly acknowledged, "due to the frugal lifestyle they lived, they ended the marriage with over \$3 million in assets and virtually no debts." (Wife's Answer Brief at 4). This \$3 million marital estate was divided equally between the wife and the husband. The wife is living in a \$542,000 house which she owns free and clear and has over \$300,000 in liquid assets plus another \$270,000 in a retirement account, none of which need be invaded for her support. The alimony stipulated to by the Husband was to meet a prospective standard already twenty percent higher than her historical standard of living. Thus, the family's decision to lead a prudent lifestyle has left her with a substantial nest egg, as well as an extremely comfortable lifestyle.

Thus, it is simply incorrect to suggest that the wife would have been better off had the family lived a lavish lifestyle. Perhaps she would have had an argument for higher alimony based on a higher historical standard of living, but the marital estate of which she received a fifty percent share would have been significantly less. In effect, the Wife received the benefits of the family's savings twice, both in the equitable

distribution and the calculation of alimony. This was error. *See Diffenderfer v. Diffenderfer*, 491 So. 2d 265, 268 (Fla. 1986) ("injustice would result if the trial court were to consider the same asset in calculating both property distribution and support obligations.").

## B. The Wife Has No Continuing Right to a Share of the Husband's Future Income

Equally fundamental in the award of permanent periodic alimony is the principle that divorce accomplishes an economic separation between the former husband and wife. *See Diffenderfer*, 491 So. 2d at 266. The parties' marital assets are to be divided equitably and provisions must be made to ensure that the needs of both spouses are met. Once these objectives are accomplished (and they were accomplished by stipulation here) neither party has any future interest in the income generated by the other spouse. *Cummings v. Cummings*, 330 So. 2d 134, 136 (Fla. 1976).

Thus, absent a showing of need, neither spouse has any right to share in the post-dissolution earning capacity of the other spouse. This principle is unambiguously stated in Section 61.075(5)(a), Florida Statutes, which limits the definition of marital assets to assets acquired during the marriage. Applying this definition, Florida courts have rejected numerous attempts by one spouse to establish an interest in the other spouse's future income or income potential. Perhaps most relevant is this Court's recent decision in *Boyett v. Boyett*, 703 So. 2d 451 (Fla. 1997). In *Boyett*, the Court examined how the definition of marital property applies to retirement assets.

According to the Court, the valuation of a vested retirement plan does not include any contribution made after dissolution. To rule otherwise unfairly compensates one

spouse for the efforts and labor of the other spouse following the dissolution. *Id.* at 452. *See also Hamilton v. Hamilton*, 552 So. 2d 929, 931 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) ("marital property rights cannot inure in property acquired after dissolution of the parties' marriage").

Boyett effectively settles the issue of "savings alimony." In Boyett there was a pattern of wealth accumulation in the pension plan just as the parties had a pattern of savings in this case. But there is no hint in Boyett that this pattern of wealth accumulation could be considered a "need" for alimony purposes. Instead, this Court divided the pension plan as part of the equitable distribution of the parties' assets.

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