#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

**CASE NO. 96,854** 

LARRY W. MALLARD,

Petitioner,

v.

CHARLENE G. MALLARD

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_

# ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE SECOND DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT, CHARLENE G. MALLARD

Raymond A. Alley, Jr., P.A. Raymond A. Alley, Jr. Joy Ann Demas 805 West Azeele Tampa, Florida 33606

##

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Florida Statute § 61.001 states that the Chapter "shall be liberally construed and applied." § 61.001(1), Fla. Stat. (1997). The purpose of Chapter 61 is "to (a) preserve the integrity of marriage and to safeguard meaningful family relationships; (b) promote the amicable settlement of disputes that arise between parties to a marriage; and (c) mitigate the potential harm to the spouses and their children caused by the process of legal dissolution of marriage." § 61.001(2), Fla. Stat. (1997).

The stated purpose of Chapter 61, together with the case law and the law as set forth in § 61.08, enables the trial court's inclusion of the savings expense when determining the Parties' marital standard of living to be perfectly aligned with the fundamental principles of alimony law in Florida.

In an effort to clarify any misconceptions, the Wife is not asking this Court to supply her with a "rainy day fund." (HB:9). The Wife is asking this Court to follow and to perpetuate the intent of the alimony statute by including the marital standard of living in the award to the Wife of permanent periodic alimony, thereby preserving the intent of the legislature and the integrity of long standing precedent.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The Award of Permanent Periodic Alimony is to Be Based on the Needs of the Recipient Spouse and the Ability of the Payor Spouse to Pay.

In Welsh v. Welsh, 35 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1948) the court held that the award of permanent alimony is based upon the "necessities of the wife and the financial ability of the husband to supply the necessity." See Welsh v. Welsh, 35 So.2d 6, 9 (Fla. 1948). However, in 1978, an amendment to the alimony statute set forth numerous factors to consider when determining the amount of an alimony award. § 61.08(2), Fla. Stat. (1978). These factors include: a) The standard of living established during the marriage; b) The duration of the marriage; c) The age and physical and emotional condition of each party; d) The financial resources of each party; e) The accumulation of assets and liabilities of the parties individually and jointly during the marriage; f) If applicable, the time needed by either party for education or training to find appropriate employment; g) The contribution of each party to the marriage including, but not limited to, services rendered in homemaking, child care, education, and career building of the other party. The court may also consider any other factor necessary to do equity and justice. § 61.08(2), Fla. Stat. (1978). (Emphasis added.)

The Husband correctly states that the recipient's needs versus the payor's ability is the standard that governs the award of alimony. In the present case, the Wife, as the

recipient spouse, has met her burden by demonstrating her need and has shown that the Husband has the ability to meet her needs without jeopardizing his economic well-being.

In <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980), the court reiterated that alimony is to be based upon the needs of the recipient spouse as well as the ability of the payor spouse to pay. <u>See Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Fla. 1980). However, <u>Canakaris</u> went a step further and listed the elements in 1978 Amendment to § 61.08 in its opinion. <u>See id.</u> These elements were utilized by the trial court to aid in making a proper award of alimony. <u>See id.</u> at 1201.

Further, the court stated that permanent periodic alimony is to provide for the needs and necessities of life to the former spouse as established during the course of the parties' marriage. See Canakaris, 382 So.2d at 1201. In the instant case, during the course of the Parties' marriage, a decision was made to save twenty-five percent of their income. The Parties were able to meet this financial goal by abstaining from certain other luxuries, such as new clothes, luxurious vacations, new cars, jewelry, maids, and yardmen, all of which would have been taken into consideration in the Parties' marital standard of living had they so indulged. However, the Husband contends that the same money that could have well provided for a very luxurious standard of living should be ignored. To follow that logic would enable a court to pick and choose, at its whim, what

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> T:72, 77, 82, 84, 86, 87, 101, 102.

is worthy of being deemed an expense that should be calculated into the parties standard of living and which ones should be ignored. This would create judicial chaos.

The Husband looks to Rosen v. Rosen, 696 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1997) which states that "alimony is to provide the current necessary support." See Rosen v. Rosen, 696 So.2d 697, 703 (Fla. 1997). In Rosen, the court had to decide an issue entirely different from the one presented to this Court. The Rosen issue was whether an award of permanent alimony was even the correct finding. See Rosen, 696 So.2d at 697. Ms. Rosen argued that since the court had considered her employability at the time of the final judgment, it could not be reassessed in a later modification proceeding. See Rosen, 696 So.2d at 702. The court rejected this argument on the basis that employability is variable and may change due to outside forces. See id.

The Wife recognizes that it is an unusual circumstance where habitual savings can be classified as an expense and encompassed as part of the marital standard of living. However, the customary behavior of the Parties of saving substantial sums of money on a monthly basis transformed what is often viewed as a luxury into a way of life. The present case can be distinguished from Rosen in that the standard of living developed during the marriage in the present case was not something that was variable and is not something that could presently change as a result of outside forces. Further, if either

Party can later demonstrate a substantial change in circumstances, then either Party would be entitled to file for a modification.

The Parties agreed between themselves to "save twenty-five percent of the annual income" and they were able to accomplish that goal. (T:98, 99). At the time of the dissolution of the Parties' marriage, twenty-five percent of their annual income factored out to be approximately \$75,000.<sup>2</sup> Saving \$75,000 per year is not something that just happens, it was made to happen through the Parties joint efforts and commitment to their goals.

The Husband contends that the Wife is "complaining" about the calculation of her reasonable needs. (HB:11). This is not the case, as the Wife is simply asking this Court to include in her award what she is entitled to receive. At the time the Wife entered into the partial stipulation, both Parties realized that it did not account for the entire marital standard of living. This notion was corroborated by counsel for the Husband's statement on the record that the Parties had resolved most of the issues by stipulation "save the issue of Messina alimony which the Wife seeks." (A:2). (Emphasis added.) Without the inclusion of the entire marital standard of living, the well-settled law is not being followed. Certainly the Wife is not complaining by suggesting that the law be followed.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  \$3125 (the amount awarded to the Wife) x 2 = \$6250 savings per month; \$6250 x 12 = \$75,000 annual savings.

The Husband contends that the stipulation "already included a nearly twenty percent adjustment upward from her historical standard of living." (HB:11). The Husband freely entered into the stipulation knowing that the Wife was not agreeing to the savings expense issue, as pointed out by Husband's counsel.

The Husband goes on to cite <u>Diffenderfer v. Diffenderfer</u>, 491 So.2d 265 (Fla. 1986) as an attempt to incorrectly merge the issues of alimony and equitable distribution. In <u>Diffenderfer</u>, the court had two certified questions to decide. <u>See Diffenderfer v. Diffenderfer</u>, 491 So.2d 265, 265 (Fla. 1986). The present case concerns only the second of the two questions, "whether a husband's retirement benefits, which were both vested and matured, could be considered as both a marital asset subject to distribution and as a source of payment for permanent periodic alimony." <u>See id.</u> The court held that such retirement benefits could be considered either as a marital asset subject to equitable distribution or as a source of payment for permanent periodic alimony but not both. <u>See Diffenderfer</u>, 491 So.2d at 267. The <u>Diffenderfer</u> court had to decide whether one account was to be treated as an asset or as a source of payment. <u>See id.</u> at 265.

The present case is easily distinguished from <u>Diffenderfer</u>. In the present case, the Parties stipulated to the distribution of the savings/retirement account as part of the equitable distribution. The Wife is not asking to continue to tap into this same account for the payment of the savings award. To follow the Husband's logic would be to make

alimony and equitable distribution two mutually exclusive remedies available to a spouse.

This logic allows a spouse to either be entitled to alimony or equitable distribution but not both. Obviously this is not the correct application of the law.

# B. A Former Spouse Does Not Have the Right to the Other Spouse's Future Increased Income.

There is well-settled law dealing with a former spouse's right to the other spouse's future income. The Husband cites several cases which, while they state correct rules of law, are unable to be analogized with the present issue.

In <u>Cummings v. Cummings</u>, 330 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1976), the court decided that the "recitation of marriage vows neither diminishes the [wife's] capacity for self-support nor does it give her a vested right in her husband's earnings for the remainder of her life." <u>See Cummings v. Cummings</u>, 330 So.2d 134, 136 (Fla. 1976). The court was referring to an equitable distribution of the parties marital and nonmarital debts. <u>See id.</u> This statement is correct from an equitable distribution standpoint, however, it is not correct from an alimony perspective. Any spouse that is ever awarded alimony, in any form, will technically have a "future interest" in the payor spouse's future income and future employability. If the payor spouse is no longer employed and is not able to provide an income sufficient to meet the recipient spouse's needs, the recipient spouse's interests will certainly be affected, thus granting the payee spouse a "future interest" in the payor spouse's income as to whether the payor spouse will be able to meet the alimony

obligation. No matter what amount of alimony the Wife receives in the present case, she has a future interest in whether the Husband earns sufficient income to secure his obligation.

The Husband cites <u>Boyett v. Boyett</u>, 703 So.2d 451 (Fla. 1997) which applies the definition of marital asset to retirement assets. <u>See Boyett v. Boyett</u>, 703 So.2d 451, 452 (Fla. 1997). The court stated that the "valuation of a vested retirement plan is not to include any contributions made after the original judgment of dissolution." <u>See Boyett</u>, 703 So.2d at 452. The Wife fully agrees with the Husband's contention that if a pension plan is considered a marital asset at the time of the dissolution of marriage it will be equitably distributed based on its value at the time of dissolution and that any payments or accrual from the time of the dissolution forward will be classified as nonmarital. However, in the present case, it is important to reiterate two points: one, equitable distribution and alimony are separate and distinct issues, not mutually exclusive concepts, and second, equitable distribution is not an issue in front of this Court.

Further, the Husband contends that there was a pattern of wealth accumulation in the pension plan in <u>Boyett just</u> as the Parties had a pattern of savings in the present case. (HB:13-4). The only similarity between <u>Boyett</u> and the present case is that there was an equitable distribution. The savings pattern of the parties in <u>Boyett</u> was not even remotely similar to the patterns in the present case. The Husband states that the <u>Boyett</u> decision

"effectively settles the issue of savings alimony," (HB:13) when in reality, <u>Boyett</u> does not even address the correct issue.

The Husband goes on to cite <u>Barner v. Barner</u>, 716 So.2d 795 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), <u>Hughes v. Hughes</u>, 438 So.2d 146 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), and <u>Severs v. Severs</u>, 426 So.2d 992 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), however, these cases offer no guidance to the issue of including a savings expense in the marital standard of living.

The <u>Barner</u> court, though it undoubtedly states the correct law, is of no help to the present case. In <u>Barner</u>, the court held that a "husband's future earning ability was not an 'asset' for purposes of equitable distribution." <u>See Barner v. Barner</u>, 716 So.2d 795, 796 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). The court reasoned that the husband's future earnings had not accrued during the marriage and, therefore, the wife had no claim to it from an equitable distribution standpoint. <u>See Barner</u>, 716 So.2d at 797. The Wife in the present case agrees with the holding. The Wife is not asking for this Court to classify the Husband's future income as an asset and she is not attempting to re-open the issue of equitable distribution.

The <u>Hughes</u> and <u>Severs</u> courts stand for the proposition that an educational degree (according to <u>Hughes</u>) is not property subject to distribution as lump sum alimony and the wife (according to <u>Severs</u>) is not entitled to claim a vested interest in an educational degree. See Hughes v. Hughes, 428 So.2d 146, 150 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); See Severs v.

Severs, 426 So. 2d 992, 994 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). Not only is the Wife in the present case not attempting to stake a claim in the Husband's educational degree, she is also not asking that this Court award her lump sum alimony.

If the Husband is relying on <u>Hughes</u> based upon the idea that the monetary measures of an award cannot be speculative (<u>Hughes</u>, 438 So.2d at 150) then that argument must fail as well. The amount the Parties saved was the result of a conscious and mutual decision to set aside twenty-five percent of their income for savings. There was no speculation or subjectivity involved as to how much the Parties would save, the ground rules were set by the Parties.

The Husband again tries to reconcile an issue that proves unhelpful through the use of Wood v. Wood, 528 So.2d 508 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), Irwin v. Irwin, 539 So.2d 1177 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), Gordon v. Gordon, 335 So.2d 321 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976), reh'g denied, 344 So.2d 324 (1977), and Hamilton v. Hamilton, 552 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

The <u>Wood</u> case does not provide the essential facts that would enable a constructive comparison. In <u>Wood</u>, the court stated that an award of alimony is to be based on the needs of the payee spouse and the ability of the payor spouse to pay. <u>See Wood v. Wood</u>, 528 So.2d 508, 509 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). The husband in that case was the sole owner and employee of his own business. See id. In the course of the husband's

see id. Instead of analyzing the actual needs of the wife, the court ordered that fifty percent of the husband's gross monthly income was to be paid to the wife. See id. Basically, the court never considered the wife's need for support, the husband's ability to pay, or the parties' standard of living.

The facts of the <u>Wood</u> case do not coincide with the facts of the present case where the present Wife's needs, excluding the amount for the savings expense, were calculated and were stipulated to be \$5910 per month. Again, the Parties set their goal at saving twenty-five percent of their annual income during their marriage. The \$3125 award for the savings component was not arbitrarily reached without assessing the needs and ability of the Parties, as was the situation in the <u>Wood</u> case.

The <u>Irwin</u> court addressed the elements to be considered in a modification of alimony case, as well as the order in which to consider the elements. The court held that an increase in the payor spouse's ability to pay does not qualify the payee spouse for an automatic increase in the amount of alimony. <u>See Irwin v. Irwin</u>, 539 So.2d 1177, 1178 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). The court determined that the needs of the payee spouse must be examined first and only when an increase in payee's needs are recognized will the ability of the payor spouse to pay be analyzed. <u>See Irwin</u>, 539 So.2d at 1178.

Irwin does not apply in the present case because this is not a case for modification, the Wife's needs have been established, the Husband's ability to pay has been demonstrated, and the Wife is not asking for the \$3125 to increase automatically with the Husband's future salary increases and/or his receipt of future bonuses.

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